Scalar Kinetic Mixing and the Renormalization Group

Johan Bijnens¹, Joel Oredsson² and Johan Rathsman³

Department of Astronomy and Theoretical Physics, Lund University, Sölvegatan 14A, SE 223-62 Lund, Sweden

Abstract

Quantum field theories containing scalar fields with equal quantum numbers allow for a mixed kinetic term in the Lagrangian. It has been argued that this mixing must be taken into consideration when performing renormalization group (RG) analyses of such a theory. From the fact that scalar kinetic mixing does not correspond to a physical observable, we show that no extra parameters need to be introduced. Using a toy model, we explicitly derive the 1-loop RG equations (RGEs) in three different renormalization schemes to demonstrate how the issue can be dealt with. In schemes without kinetic mixing, either the fields mix during renormalization to produce non-diagonal anomalous dimensions or the RGEs explicitly depend on the scalar masses. Finally, we show how the different schemes are related to each other by scale dependent field redefinitions.

¹bijnens@thep.lu.se

²joel.oredsson@thep.lu.se

³johan.rathsman@thep.lu.se

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Kinetic mixing and renormalizability	2
3	Three renormalization schemes	3
	3.1 Most general case	3
	3.2 Minimal case	6
	3.3 Standard way with Z_{ij}	10
4	Relation between the various schemes	12
	4.1 Most general versus minimal	13
	4.2 Standard versus minimal	14
5	Conclusions	14

1 Introduction

With the discovery of the Higgs boson at the LHC [1, 2, 3], the particle content of the Standard Model (SM) is now complete. Still, as is well known, the SM is not a complete theory and there are many proposals for physics Beyond the Standard Model (BSM), such as supersymmetry, in order to solve some of its outstanding problems.

One common feature of BSM models is the inclusion of extra scalar fields. A very well studied example is the so called two Higgs Doublet Model (2HDM) which was introduced in 1974 by T. D. Lee [4]. As its name implies, it has two Higgs doublets instead of one as in the SM. Most phenomenological studies of the 2HDM assumes that the two Higgs doublets are charged differently under a discrete \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry and that this symmetry is at most softly broken, *i.e.* by mass-terms, in the scalar potential. By assigning appropriate charges to the right-handed fermion fields, this ensures that there are no tree-level Flavor Changing Neutral Currents (FCNC). However, in general there is no justification to make this assumption, since the 2HDM in itself is also not a complete theory. For example having the same fine-tuning or hierarchy problem as the SM. In fact, in a supersymmetric version of the theory, the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry is broken when going beyond tree-level [5] and even though this breaking is only soft it gives rise to so called non-holomorphic corrections.

In this paper we want to clarify in a pedagogical way what happens when the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry is broken. One immediate consequence is that the two Higgs doublets will mix, giving rise to both kinetic and mass mixing. At tree level, as is well known⁴, the kinetic term as well as the mass matrix can be diagonalized. The question we investigate in this paper is whether this can be done consistently also at loop-level, *i.e.* after renormalization, and whether the kinetic term can be kept diagonal also under renormalization group evolution,

⁴See for example sec.12.5 in ref. [6].

even though the fields mix. In refs. [7, 8] it was claimed that whereas one can always make the kinetic term diagonal at a given renormalization scale, the mixing will reappear if the renormalization scale is changed, thus meaning that one gets an additional parameter.

As we will show in this paper, this claim is not correct and one does not need an additional parameter in order to renormalize the theory. Instead, one can choose to work with different renormalization schemes where this parameter is either present or not, all giving the same results. The underlying reason behind this result is that the two-point functions are in fact not observables and as such do not need to be finite. The only observables are masses and scattering amplitudes. We also show that in those schemes where there is no kinetic mixing, one instead has mixing of the fields under renormalization corresponding to a change of basis which has to be taken into account.

A similar problem occurs in the renormalization of the CKM matrix. For a recent discussion of how that is resolved in different renormalization schemes for the case of an extended scalar sector, see ref. [9].

We present three different renormalization schemes with or without kinetic mixing and show how they are related at one-loop level under renormalization through orthogonal and non-orthogonal transformations. A difference compared to tree-level is that these transformations are scale-dependent. As a by-product of our considerations we also show that in one of these schemes, the renormalization group equations in the Minimal Subtraction (MS) scheme for the quartic couplings depend on the masses of the scalar particles - in contradiction with statements often made in textbooks.

As a pedagogical example and to simplify the discussions, we will not consider the full 2HDM but instead only consider a toy model with $N \ge 2$ real pseudo scalar fields coupled to one Dirac fermion. This model has the same generic features as the 2HDM when it comes to renormalization properties of the scalar fields.

This paper is organized as follows. We start in section 2 by defining the theory we are considering and introduce the three different renormalization schemes that we are considering. In the following section we define the three schemes in more detail, perform the renormalization at one-loop level and calculate the renormalization group equations for each case. In section 4 we then show how the schemes are related to each other and that they in fact are equivalent. Finally section 5 contains our conclusions.

2 Kinetic mixing and renormalizability

$$G_{ij}(p^2) = i - - \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} - j \right) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left(\alpha_{ij} p^2 + \beta_{ij} \right)$$
(1)

Figure 1: Two point function of N real scalar fields. At 1-loop order, it contains divergences proportional to p^2 ; α_{ij} and β_{ij} are momentum independent.

To discuss the renormalizability of theories with mixed scalar kinetic terms, we have chosen the simplest case with N real pseudo scalar fields coupled to a Dirac fermion. The reason to include a fermion is because then the 2-point Green functions in figure 1, $G_{ij}(p^2)$, exhibit divergences proportional to p^2 at 1-loop level; instead of at 2-loop level, which would be the case in a theory with only scalars.

The only requirement for a theory to be renormalizable is that all physical quantities are free from divergences. So even if some component of $G_{ij}(p^2)$ contains divergences, it in itself does not spoil renormalizability since $G_{ij}(p^2)$ is not a physical observable. In our theory, the physical observables are scattering amplitudes and masses of the particles. Thus, the minimal set of parameters and counterterms consists only of interaction and diagonal mass terms. We will show in section 3.2 how this set is sufficient to absorb all divergences. This merely corresponds to one particular renormalization scheme.

Another renormalization scheme is considered in section 3.1, where we work with the most general Lagrangian consistent with the symmetries of the theory, including kinetic mixing operators, and renormalize every parameter. Since the parameters in the Lagrangian are not directly related to any physical observables, one instead requires all Green functions to be free of divergences.

A third renormalization scheme, and the one most often used, is to work with diagonal kinetic terms and renormalized fields. To be able to absorb the divergences in all Green functions into counterterms, the scalar fields must mix during renormalization. This will induce the necessary non-diagonal kinetic counterterms to ensure renormalizability. The anomalous dimensions of the fields will then enter the RGEs for the couplings. We show how this is done in section 3.3.

Throughout all of our calculations, we use dimensional regularization in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ dimensions and MS for the counterterms. We will also introduce the renormalization scale μ to make all the couplings in the Lagrangian have their natural dimension. All bare quantities that are μ independent will be denoted by a *b* superscript. For notational convenience, we define

$$\Lambda \equiv \frac{1}{16\pi^2 \epsilon}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{D} \equiv 16\pi^2 \mu \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\mu}.$$

3 Three renormalization schemes

3.1 Most general case

The most general Lagrangian with the imposed symmetries in terms of bare fields and parameters is given by

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \varphi_{i}^{b} a_{ij}^{b} \partial^{\mu} \varphi_{j}^{b} - \frac{1}{2} \varphi_{i}^{b} b_{ij}^{b} \varphi_{j}^{b} + c^{b} \overline{\psi}^{b} i \partial \psi^{b} - d^{b} \overline{\psi}^{b} \psi^{b} - e_{i}^{b} \varphi_{i}^{b} \overline{\psi}^{b} i \gamma_{5} \psi^{b} - \frac{1}{4!} f_{ijkl}^{b} \varphi_{i}^{b} \varphi_{j}^{b} \varphi_{k}^{b} \varphi_{l}^{b} .$$

$$(2)$$

The bare parameters are divided into renormalized parameters and counter terms as

$$a_{ij}^{b} = a_{ij} + \delta a_{ij}, \qquad b_{ij}^{b} = b_{ij} + \delta b_{ij}, \qquad c^{b} = c + \delta c, d^{b} = d + \delta d, \qquad e_{i}^{b} = \mu^{\epsilon} \left(e_{i} + \delta e_{i} \right), \qquad f_{ijkl}^{b} = \mu^{2\epsilon} \left(f_{ijkl} + \delta f_{ijkl} \right), \qquad (3)$$

where a_{ij}, b_{ij}, f_{ijkl} are fully symmetric in all their indices and appropriate powers of μ have been inserted to give all terms correct dimensions. We will also use matrix and vector notation for the coefficients a_{ij}, b_{ij}, e_i .

This Lagrangian contains a number of redundant parameters. In the case of two scalar fields, we have 15 free parameters with their associated counterterms. These do not directly correspond to physical observables. If one transforms the Lagrangian to the minimal form, as we do in section 3.2, the total number of free parameters is reduced to 10; which then directly correspond to physical observables.

One complication of working with this general Lagrangian is the non-diagonal kinetic terms; which gives rise to a matrix scalar propagator. In the calculations we treat the mass parameters as small perturbations $b_{ij} \ll p^2$ and work with an expanded propagator,

$$i - \dots - j = \left(\frac{i}{p^2 a - b}\right)_{ij} \simeq \frac{i}{p^2} \left(a^{-1} + \frac{a^{-1}ba^{-1}}{p^2}\right)_{ij}.$$
 (4)

This we can do since in the end we are only interested in the RGEs and therefore we only need to keep the terms that give rise to UV divergences in the loop calculations.

Ignoring the finite pieces, the 1-loop calculation of the diagrams in figure 2 results in

$$\Sigma(p) = \left(\frac{e_i e_j a_{ij}^{-1}}{2c} p - \frac{e_i e_j a_{ij}^{-1}}{c^2} d\right) \Lambda + (p \delta c - \delta d), \tag{5}$$

$$\Pi_{ij}(p^2) = \left[\frac{1}{2}f_{ijkl}(a^{-1}ba^{-1})_{kl} + (4d^2 - 2c^2p^2)\frac{e_ie_j}{c^4}\right]\Lambda + (p^2\delta a - \delta b),\tag{6}$$

$$\Gamma_i^{\rm amp} = -\frac{e_i e_j e_k a_{jk}^{-1}}{c^2} \Lambda + \delta e, \tag{7}$$

$$\Gamma_{ijkl}^{\mathrm{amp}} = \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(a^{-1}\right)_{mn} \left(a^{-1}\right)_{op} \left(f_{ijmo}f_{klnp} + f_{ikmo}f_{jlnp} + f_{ilmo}f_{jknp}\right) - \frac{24e_ie_je_ke_l}{c^4}\right] i\Lambda - i\delta f_{ijkl}$$

$$\tag{8}$$

As renormalization conditions we will require all Green functions to be be finite which is accomplished by absorbing all the infinites in the 1PI and amputated diagrams into the counterterms. At one loop order this is realized by

$$\delta a_{ij} = \frac{2e_i e_j}{c^2} \Lambda,$$

$$\delta b_{ij} = \left[\frac{4d^2 e_i e_j}{c^4} + \frac{1}{2} f_{ijkl} \left(a^{-1} b a^{-1} \right)_{kl} \right] \Lambda,$$

$$\delta c = -\frac{e^T a^{-1} e}{2c} \Lambda,$$



Figure 2: The structure of 1-loop diagrams that contribute to the Green functions in all three renormalization schemes. Note that there are additional permutations of the various diagrams as well as counterterms that are not displayed.

$$\delta d = -\frac{e^T a^{-1} e d}{c^2} \Lambda,$$

$$\delta e_i = \frac{e_i}{c^2} \left(e^T a^{-1} e \right) \Lambda,$$

$$\delta f_{ijkl} = \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(a^{-1} \right)_{mn} \left(a^{-1} \right)_{op} \left(f_{ijmo} f_{klnp} + f_{ikmo} f_{jlnp} + f_{ilmo} f_{jknp} \right) - \frac{24e_i e_j e_k e_l}{c^4} \right] \Lambda.$$
(9)

Since we work with bare fields and the bare parameters do not depend on the renormalization scale μ , the RGEs for the parameters are easily derived from their respective counterterm by requiring the expressions for the bare parameters in eq. (3) to be μ -independent. In four dimensions they are

$$\mathcal{D}a_{ij} = \frac{4e_i e_j}{c^2},$$

$$\mathcal{D}b_{ij} = \frac{8d^2 e_i e_j}{c^4} + f_{ijkl} \left(a^{-1}ba^{-1}\right)_{kl},$$

$$\mathcal{D}c = -\frac{\left(e^T a^{-1}e\right)}{c},$$

$$\mathcal{D}d = -\frac{2\left(e^T a^{-1}e\right)d}{c^2},$$

$$\mathcal{D}e_i = \frac{2e_i}{c^2} \left(e^T a^{-1} e \right),$$

$$\mathcal{D}f_{ijkl} = \left(a^{-1} \right)_{mn} \left(a^{-1} \right)_{op} \left(f_{ijmo} f_{klnp} + f_{ikmo} f_{jlnp} + f_{ilmo} f_{jknp} \right) - \frac{48e_i e_j e_k e_l}{c^4}.$$
 (10)

From the first equation above we see that in this renormalization scheme there is indeed kinetic mixing if the fermion couples to more than one of the scalar fields; much like the scheme used in ref. [8]. However, not all of the parameters above are physical and as we will see later the parameter describing kinetic mixing is redundant.

3.2 Minimal case

Here we only add the minimal number of free parameters and counterterms. This is similar to what is used in effective field theory methods where one removes the so-called equations of motion terms or alternatively brings the Lagrangian into the minimal form using field redefinitions ⁵. The physical observables in our theory are the masses and scattering amplitudes; therefore we only require counterterms for the masses and couplings. The Lagrangian in terms of the bare quantities is

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \Phi_{i}^{b} \partial^{\mu} \Phi_{i}^{b} - \frac{1}{2} m_{i}^{2b} \Phi_{i}^{b} \Phi_{i}^{b} + \overline{\Psi}^{b} i \partial \!\!\!/ \Psi^{b} - m^{b} \overline{\Psi}^{b} \Psi^{b} + Y_{i}^{b} \Phi_{i}^{b} \overline{\Psi}^{b} i \gamma_{5} \Psi^{b} - \frac{1}{4!} \Lambda_{ijkl}^{b} \Phi_{i}^{b} \Phi_{j}^{b} \Phi_{k}^{b} \Phi_{l}^{b} , \qquad (11)$$

where Λ^b_{ijkl} is fully symmetric in i, j, k, l. The bare parameters are related to the renormalized ones and counterterms via

$$m_i^{2b} = m_i^2 + \delta m_i^2, \qquad m^b = m + \delta m,$$

$$Y_i^b = \mu^{\epsilon} \left(Y_i + \delta Y_i \right), \qquad \Lambda_{ijkl}^b = \mu^{2\epsilon} \left(\Lambda_{ijkl} + \delta \Lambda_{ijkl} \right). \qquad (12)$$

Here we only have the physically relevant number of parameters and the same number of counterterms. For the case of two scalars this would be 10, although we will work with any number of scalars.

We will also assume the masses to be non-degenerate. In the case of degenerate masses one cannot tell the scalar particles apart and the theory would exhibit an additional O(N)symmetry. This symmetry could then be used to rotate the fields to a basis where the 2-point Green functions are diagonal and the whole discussion of renormalizability would become simpler.

In the minimal scheme, the UV divergent pieces and counterterms of the 1PI and

⁵See, for example, sec. 6 in ref. [10] for a pedagogical introduction.

amputated Green functions in figure 2 are

$$\Sigma(p^2) = \sum_i Y_i^2 \left(\frac{p}{2} - m\right) \Lambda - \delta m, \qquad (13)$$

$$\Pi_{ij}(p^2) = \left[\frac{1}{2}\Lambda_{ijkk}m_k^2 + \frac{1}{2}Y_iY_j(8m^2 - 4p^2)\right]\Lambda - \delta_{ij}\delta m_i^2,$$
(14)

$$\Gamma_i^{\rm amp} = -Y_i \sum_j Y_j^2 \Lambda + \delta Y_i,\tag{15}$$

$$\Gamma_{ijkl}^{\rm amp} = \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\Lambda_{ijmm}\Lambda_{klmm} + \Lambda_{ikmm}\Lambda_{jlmm} + \Lambda_{ilmm}\Lambda_{jkmm}\right) - 24Y_iY_jY_kY_l\right] i\Lambda - i\delta\Lambda_{ijkl}.$$
(16)

The full 2-point Green function in terms of the 1PI functions, $i\Pi_{ij}(p^2)$, is

$$G_{ij}(p^2) \equiv \int d^4x e^{ip \cdot x} \langle \Omega | T\{\Phi^b_i(x)\Phi^b_j(0)\} | \Omega \rangle = \left(\frac{i}{p^2 - M + \Pi(p^2)}\right)_{ij}, \quad M_{ij} = m_i^2 \delta_{ij}, \quad (17)$$

where Ω as usual denotes the physical ground state. To 1-loop order it reduces to

$$G_{ij} = \begin{cases} \frac{i}{p^2 - m_i^2} \left(1 - \frac{\Pi_{ii}}{p^2 - m_i^2} \right), & \text{for } i = j, \\ \frac{-i\Pi_{ij}}{(p^2 - m_i^2)(p^2 - m_j^2)}, & \text{for } i \neq j. \end{cases}$$
(18)



Figure 3: The physical amplitude for scattering of scalar mass eigenstates ij to kl can be expressed in terms of 2-point Green functions, G_{ij} and amputated 4-point functions, Γ_{abcd}^{amp} , with the LSZ theorem.

A crucial observation is that one cannot make all components of G_{ij} to be finite since we cannot absorb the off-diagonal p^2 divergent piece in Π_{ij} in any of the counterterms. However, this is not a problem since 2-point Green functions are not observables in quantum field theory and can thus contain divergences. The relevant physical observables are the poles of the 2-point functions, *i.e.* the masses of the particles, as well as the S-matrix elements, related to correlation functions through the LSZ theorem [11]. The masses are fixed by det $G^{-1} = 0$ on-shell and to make them finite, the δm_i^2 will absorb the infinities in $\prod_{ii} (p^2 = m_i^2)$.

In a theory where external particles have the same quantum numbers, the conventional LSZ theorem needs to be modified to include mixing on the legs [12]. The S-matrix element describing scattering of scalar mass eigenstates ij going into kl, see figure 3, is then given by⁶

$$\mathcal{A}_{ijkl} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{Z_{ii}^{(i)} Z_{jj}^{(j)} Z_{kk}^{(k)} Z_{ll}^{(l)}}} \times \lim_{p_1^2 \to m_i^2} (p_1^2 - m_i^2) G_{ia}(p_1^2) \times \lim_{p_2^2 \to m_j^2} (p_2^2 - m_j^2) G_{jb}(p_2^2) \\ \times \lim_{p_3^2 \to m_k^2} (p_3^2 - m_k^2) G_{kc}(p_3^2) \times \lim_{p_4^2 \to m_l^2} (p_4^2 - m_l^2) G_{ld}(p_4^2) \\ \times \Gamma_{abcd}^{amp}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4),$$
(19)

where the $Z_{ij}^{(k)}$ factors are defined as the residues of the corresponding 2-point correlation functions,

$$G_{ij}(p^2) \to \frac{iZ_{ij}^{(k)}}{p^2 - m_k^2 + i\epsilon} + \mathcal{O}(1), \qquad (20)$$

as $p^2 \to m_k^2$, *i.e.*

$$Z_{ij}^{(k)} = -i \lim_{p^2 \to m_k^2} (p^2 - m_k^2) G_{ij}(p^2).$$
(21)

Taking the external momenta on-shell, the amplitude becomes

$$\mathcal{A}_{ijkl} = \left(1 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a=i,j,k,l} \frac{d}{dp^2} \Pi_{aa} \Big|_{p^2 = m_a^2}\right) \Gamma_{ijkl}^{\mathrm{amp}} + \sum_{a \neq i} \frac{\Pi_{ia}(p^2 = m_i^2)}{m_a^2 - m_i^2} \Gamma_{ajkl}^{\mathrm{amp}} + \sum_{a \neq j} \frac{\Pi_{ja}(p^2 = m_j^2)}{m_a^2 - m_j^2} \Gamma_{iakl}^{\mathrm{amp}} + \sum_{a \neq k} \frac{\Pi_{ka}(p^2 = m_k^2)}{m_a^2 - m_k^2} \Gamma_{ijal}^{\mathrm{amp}} + \sum_{a \neq l} \frac{\Pi_{la}(p^2 = m_l^2)}{m_a^2 - m_l^2} \Gamma_{ijka}^{\mathrm{amp}}.$$
(22)

A similar discussion applies when considering $\Phi_i - \bar{\Psi}\Psi$ scattering and here we only write the final expression in terms of 1PI and amputated diagrams,

$$\mathcal{A}_{i} = \left(1 - \frac{d}{d\not p} \Sigma(\not p)\Big|_{\not p=m} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dp^{2}} \Pi_{ii}\Big|_{p^{2}=m_{i}^{2}}\right) \Gamma_{i}^{\mathrm{amp}} + \sum_{a\neq i} \frac{\Pi_{ia}(p^{2}=m_{i}^{2})}{m_{a}^{2} - m_{i}^{2}} \Gamma_{a}^{\mathrm{amp}}.$$
 (23)

⁶The masses in the LSZ theorem are the physical pole masses, which are equivalent to the MS masses up to finite pieces. Since we are only discussing UV divergences, we will not make any distinction between pole masses and MS masses. The difference would need to be taken into consideration at higher orders in perturbation theory.

As renormalization conditions we now require all observables to be finite, *i.e.* \mathcal{A}_i , \mathcal{A}_{ijkl} and the masses m_i^2 , m. The infinities in G_{ij} that can not be absorbed into counterterms from Π_{ij} will then be canceled in the observables by the counterterms δY_i and $\delta \Lambda_{ijkl}$. These conditions lead to the following counterterms ⁷:

$$\delta m_i^2 = \left(\frac{1}{2}\sum_j \Lambda_{iijj}m_j^2 + 4Y_i^2m^2 - 2Y_i^2m_i^2\right)\Lambda,$$

$$\delta m = -\frac{m}{2}\sum_i Y_i^2\Lambda,$$

$$\delta Y_i = \left(-Y_i^3 + \frac{3}{2}Y_i\sum_k Y_k^2 + \sum_{l\neq i} Y_lC_{il}\right)\Lambda,$$

$$\delta \Lambda_{ijkl} = \left[\left(-Y_i^2 - Y_j^2 - Y_k^2 - Y_l^2\right)\Lambda_{ijkl} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_m \left(\Lambda_{ijmm}\Lambda_{klmm} + \Lambda_{ikmm}\Lambda_{jlmm} + \Lambda_{ilmm}\Lambda_{jkmm}\right) - 24Y_iY_jY_kY_l + \sum_{m\neq i}\Lambda_{mjkl}C_{im} + \sum_{m\neq j}\Lambda_{imkl}C_{jm} + \sum_{m\neq k}\Lambda_{ijml}C_{km} + \sum_{m\neq l}\Lambda_{ijkm}C_{lm}\right]\Lambda,$$

(24)

where we have defined

$$C_{il} \equiv \frac{1}{m_i^2 - m_l^2} \left(\sum_k \frac{\Lambda_{ilkk}}{2} m_k^2 + 4Y_i Y_l m^2 - 2Y_i Y_l m_i^2 \right).$$
(25)

It should be noted again that the scalar masses are non-degenerate by the symmetry argument. A check on these counterterms is to verify that the on-shell amplitudes for $\Phi_i \Psi \rightarrow \Phi_j \Psi$ are finite.

Since all the fields are bare and do not depend on the renormalization scale, the RGEs for the couplings and masses follow straightforwardly from the counterterms:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{D}m_i^2 &= \sum_j \Lambda_{iijj}m_j^2 + 8Y_i^2m^2 - 4Y_i^2m_i^2, \\ \mathcal{D}m &= -m\sum_i Y_i^2, \\ \mathcal{D}Y_i &= -2Y_i^3 + 3Y_i\sum_k Y_k^2 + 2\sum_{l\neq i} Y_lC_{il}, \\ \mathcal{D}\Lambda_{ijkl} &= -2\left(Y_i^2 + Y_j^2 + Y_k^2 + Y_l^2\right)\Lambda_{ijkl} + \sum_m (\Lambda_{ijmm}\Lambda_{klmm} + \Lambda_{ikmm}\Lambda_{jlmm} + \Lambda_{ilmm}\Lambda_{jkmm}) \\ &- 48Y_iY_jY_kY_l + 2\sum_{m\neq i} \Lambda_{mjkl}C_{im} + 2\sum_{m\neq j} \Lambda_{imkl}C_{jm} + 2\sum_{m\neq k} \Lambda_{ijml}C_{km} \end{aligned}$$

⁷There is no implicit sum over repeated indices in eq. (24)-(26).

$$+2\sum_{m\neq l}\Lambda_{ijkm}C_{lm}.$$
(26)

It is interesting and unusual that the RGEs in this MS renormalization scheme depend on the masses through the C_{ij} terms. However, one could expect this; since this scheme is related to an on-shell renormalization one. It should also be noted that the definition of the fields in this case is unchanged during the RG evolution; they are always given by the mass eigenstates. In other words, the basis is the same throughout the evolution. Another point is that the contributions from the off-diagonal C_{ij} -terms vanish for two scalars if a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry is imposed. In other words these terms contain the same information as the kinetic mixing terms in section 3.1.

3.3 Standard way with Z_{ij}

The standard renormalization scheme most often used is very similar to the case of working with a completely general Lagrangian as in section 3.1. But one obvious simplification is to transform the fields to arrive at canonical kinetic terms through a non-orthogonal⁸ transformation. For this scheme we will also renormalize the fields, which gives rise to anomalous dimensions that will <u>enter the RGEs for all the parameters.</u>

We denote bare fields by $\phi_i^b, \overline{\Psi}^b, \Psi^b$ and renormalized fields by $\phi_i, \overline{\Psi}, \Psi$. The relations between the two are given by

$$\phi_i^b = Z_{ij}\phi_j$$
 and $\Psi^b = Z_\Psi\Psi$. (27)

With the renormalization factors

$$Z_{ij} = \delta_{ij} + \delta Z_{ij}$$
 and $Z_{\Psi} = 1 + \delta \Psi.$ (28)

The Lagrangian in terms of renormalized quantities and counterterms is then given by

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} Z_{ik} \partial_{\mu} \phi_k Z_{il} \partial^{\mu} \phi_l - \frac{1}{2} Z_{ik} \phi_k \left(m_{ij}^2 + \delta m_{ij}^2 \right) Z_{jl} \phi_l + Z_{\Psi}^2 \overline{\Psi} i \partial \!\!\!/ \Psi - Z_{\Psi}^2 \left(m + \delta m \right) \overline{\Psi} \Psi + \mu^{\epsilon} \left(y_i + \delta y_i \right) \phi_i \overline{\Psi} i \gamma_5 \Psi - \frac{\mu^{2\epsilon}}{4!} \left(\lambda_{ijkl} + \delta \lambda_{ijkl} \right) \phi_i \phi_k \phi_k \phi_l,$$
(29)

where m_{ij}^2 and λ_{ijkl} are fully symmetric in their indices. Note that we have a different number of parameters compared to counterterms here. For two scalars we have 15 counterterms and 11 parameters, but of course only 10 physical parameters as in the other schemes. The relations of bare and renormalized parameters are somewhat more complicated than in the previous renormalization schemes,

$$m_{ij}^{b^2} = m_{ij}^2 + \delta m_{ij}^2, \tag{30}$$

$$y_i^b = Z_{ji}^{-1} Z_{\Psi}^{-2} \mu^{\epsilon} (y_j + \delta y_j), \qquad (31)$$

$$\lambda_{ijkl}^{b} = Z_{ai}^{-1} Z_{bj}^{-1} Z_{ck}^{-1} Z_{dl}^{-1} \mu^{2\epsilon} (\lambda_{abcd} + \delta \lambda_{abcd}).$$
(32)

⁸In more general cases with complex fields it would require a non-unitary transformation.

Since the renormalization factors are μ dependent we now obtain RGEs for the fields,

$$\mathcal{D}\phi_i = -\left(Z^{-1}\mathcal{D}Z\right)_{ij}\phi_j \equiv \gamma_{ij}\phi_j,$$

$$\mathcal{D}\Psi = -Z_{\Psi}^{-1}\mathcal{D}Z_{\Psi}\Psi \equiv \gamma_{\Psi}\Psi.$$
 (33)

In case of γ_{ij} not being diagonal this means that the fields will mix during renormalization and thereby the basis will also change. These anomalous dimensions, γ_{ij} and γ_{Ψ} , also enter the RGEs for the parameters

$$\mathcal{D}y_i = -(4\pi)^2 \epsilon(y_i + \delta y_i) - \gamma_{ij} y_j - 2\gamma_{\Psi} g_i - \mathcal{D}\delta y_i,$$

$$\mathcal{D}\lambda_{ijkl} = -2(4\pi)^2 \epsilon(\lambda_{ijkl} + \delta\lambda_{ijkl})$$
(34)

$$-\sum_{m} (\gamma_{im} \lambda_{mjkl} + \gamma_{jm} \lambda_{imkl} + \gamma_{km} \lambda_{ijml} + \gamma_{lm} \lambda_{ijkm}) - \mathcal{D}\delta\lambda_{ijkl}.$$
 (35)

Just as in section 3.1, the counterterms are determined by requiring that all Green functions of the fields $\phi_i, \overline{\Psi}, \Psi$ are finite. This is accomplished by making the 1PI and amputated diagrams in figure 2 finite, which we compute to be

$$\Sigma(p^{2}) = \sum_{i} y_{i}^{2} \left(\frac{p}{2} - m\right) \Lambda + (2p\delta\psi - 2m\delta\psi - \delta m),$$

$$\Pi_{ij}(p^{2}) = \left[\frac{1}{2}\lambda_{ijkl}m_{kl}^{2} + y_{i}y_{j}(4m^{2} - 2p^{2})\right] \Lambda + (2p^{2}\delta Z_{ij} - m_{ja}^{2}\delta Z_{ia} - m_{ia}^{2}\delta Z_{ja} - \delta m_{ij}^{2}),$$
(36)
$$(36)$$

$$(36)$$

$$(36)$$

$$(36)$$

$$(36)$$

$$(37)$$

$$\Gamma_i^{\rm amp} = -y_i \sum_j y_j^2 \Lambda + \delta y_i, \tag{38}$$

$$\Gamma_{ijkl}^{\rm amp} = \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\lambda_{ijmm} \lambda_{klmm} + \lambda_{ikmm} \lambda_{jlmm} + \lambda_{ilmm} \lambda_{jkmm}\right) - 24y_i y_j y_k y_l\right] i\Lambda - i\delta\lambda_{ijkl}.$$
 (39)

The counterterms thus become

$$\delta Z_{ij} = y_i y_j \Lambda,$$

$$\delta Z_{\Psi} = -\frac{1}{4} \sum_i y_i^2 \Lambda,$$

$$\delta m_{ij}^2 = \left(\frac{1}{2} \lambda_{ijkl} m_{kl}^2 + 4m y_i y_j - y_i y_k m_{kj}^2 - m_{ik}^2 y_k y_j\right) \Lambda,$$

$$\delta m = -\frac{1}{2} m \sum_i y_i^2 \Lambda,$$

$$\delta y_i = y_i \sum_k y_k^2 \Lambda,$$

$$\delta \lambda_{ijkl} = \left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\lambda_{ijmn} \lambda_{klmn} + \lambda_{ikmn} \lambda_{jlmn} + \lambda_{ilmn} \lambda_{jkmn}\right) - 24 y_i y_j y_k y_l\right] \Lambda.$$
(40)

In the end, we arrive at the following anomalous dimensions and RGEs for the parameters

$$\gamma_{ij} = 2y_i y_j,$$

$$\gamma_{\Psi} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_i y_i^2,$$

$$\mathcal{D}m_{ij}^2 = \lambda_{ijkl} m_{kl}^2 + 8m^2 y_i y_j - 2y_i y_k m_{kj}^2 - 2m_{ik}^2 y_k y_j,$$

$$\mathcal{D}m = -m \sum_i y_i^2,$$

$$\mathcal{D}y_i = y_i \sum_k y_k^2,$$

$$\mathcal{D}\lambda_{ijkl} = \lambda_{ijmn} \lambda_{klmn} + \lambda_{ikmn} \lambda_{jlmn} + \lambda_{ikmn} \lambda_{jlmn} - 48y_i y_j y_k y_l$$

$$-2y_i y_m \lambda_{mjkl} - 2y_j y_m \lambda_{imkl} - 2y_k y_m \lambda_{ijml} - 2y_l y_m \lambda_{ijkm}.$$
(41)

Here we again see that if one fermion couples to more than one of the scalars, then the scalars will mix under RG evolution from $y_i y_j \neq 0$ for $i \neq j$. The effect appears both in the anomalous dimensions of the scalar fields as well as in the masses and quartic couplings. This then corresponds to the kinetic mixing in section 3.1. An example of how to actually perform the RG evolution with these effects taken into consideration can be found in ref. [13].

As a side note we briefly compare these results to the renormalization scheme used in refs. [14, 15, 16, 17], where they derive the 1- and 2-loop RGEs for a general quantum field theory. There is a subtlety in their notation in that they present the RGEs for a theory with an irreducible representation of the scalar fields and the anomalous dimensions are therefore taken to be diagonal⁹. Their formulas can however be modified to include theories containing multiple scalar fields by generalizing the anomalous dimensions in a relatively straightforward way. This is discussed in great detail in ref. [19] and we will not discuss it further here.

4 Relation between the various schemes

All the renormalization schemes are built on bare Lagrangians, which of course do not depend on the renormalization scale μ . The different bare Lagrangians are then related to each other by field redefinitions and therefore the renormalized fields are as well. In this section we will show that the renormalized parameters in each of the three renormalization schemes are related to each other by orthogonal and non-orthogonal transformations. Though the transformations are somewhat trivial at bare level, the transformation matrices of renormalized quantities do obey a non-trivial μ dependence.

⁹This has independently been pointed out by ref. [18].

4.1 Most general versus minimal

To relate the general Lagrangian in section 3.1 to the minimal Lagrangian in section 3.2 we need to first diagonalize and normalize the kinetic terms, *i.e.* a_{ij} . Following that, we need another rotation to diagonalize the new mass matrix. We write the full non-orthogonal transformation matrix as

$$R^{b} = O_{1}^{bT} A^{b^{-1}} O_{2}^{bT}, (42)$$

where the diagonal matrix A^b and orthogonal matrices O^b_i are defined by

$$O_{1}^{b}a^{b}O_{1}^{bT} = \text{diag}(\alpha_{i}^{b}), \qquad A^{b} = \text{diag}\left(\sqrt{\alpha_{i}^{b}}\right),$$
$$O_{2}^{b}A^{b^{-1}}O_{1}^{b}b^{b}O_{1}^{bT}A^{b^{-1}}O_{2}^{bT} = \text{diag}\left(m_{i}^{2b}\right), \qquad (43)$$

such that

$$R^{bT}aR^{b} = 1, \qquad \qquad R^{bT}b^{b}R^{b} = \operatorname{diag}\left(m_{i}^{2b}\right) \equiv M^{b}.$$

$$\tag{44}$$

The relations of the bare fields are then

$$\varphi_i^b = R_{ij}^b \Phi_j^b$$
 and $\psi^b = \frac{1}{\sqrt{c^b}} \Psi^b.$ (45)

Note that since the transformation matrix R^b contains divergences, it is clear that Green functions of $\Phi_i^b, \overline{\Psi}^b, \Psi^b$ can be divergent while those of $\phi_i^b, \overline{\psi}^b, \overline{\psi}^b$ are finite. While the relation between m_i^{2b} and a^b, b^b is implicit in eqs. (42–44), the other bare

parameters are related via

$$m^{b} = \frac{d^{b}}{c^{b}}, \qquad Y^{b}_{i} = \frac{1}{c^{b}} e^{b}_{j} R^{b}_{ji}, \qquad \Lambda^{b}_{ijkl} = f^{b}_{abcd} R^{b}_{ai} R^{b}_{bj} R^{b}_{ck} R^{b}_{dl}.$$
(46)

All quantities involved in eqs. (42-46) are bare quantities and are μ -independent; as a consequence, the counterterms and RGEs must also be compatible. We can then relate the renormalized quantities with a μ -dependent transformation matrix $R_{ij}(\mu)$. The relations between the parameters in the two schemes are the same as in the bare case, but without the superscript b everywhere. Using the notation $M = \text{diag}(m_i^2)$ these are

$$R^{T}aR = 1, R^{T}bR = M, \frac{a}{c} = m,$$

$$\frac{1}{c}e^{T}R = Y^{T}, f_{abcd}R_{ai}R_{bj}R_{bk}R_{dl} = \Lambda_{ijkl}.$$
 (47)

To figure out how R_{ij} depends on the renormalization scale, one can determine its explicit form in terms of the renormalized Lagrangian parameters; which of course fully fixes the μ -dependence. Another way is using the relations in eq. (47) to transform the RGEs in the general scheme in eq. (10) to the RGEs in the minimal scheme in eq. (26) from which the required μ -dependence for R_{ij} follows. These two methods are equivalent and one finds the following non-trivial relation

$$(R^{-1}\mathcal{D}R)_{ij} = \delta_{ij}2Y_i^2 - 2C_{ji},\tag{48}$$

where C_{ij} is defined in eq. (25).

4.2 Standard versus minimal

To go from the standard scheme in section 3.3 to the minimal scheme in section 3.2, all one has to do is to diagonalize the mass matrix with an orthogonal transformation. At the bare level we have

$$O_{ij}^{bT} m_{jk}^{b2} O_{kl}^{b} = \delta_{il} m_{i}^{b2} \tag{49}$$

and the bare fields are then related by

$$\phi_i^b = O_{ij}^b \Phi_j^b. \tag{50}$$

The fermion field and mass are actually the same in both the schemes. However, note that the field is renormalized, $\Psi^b = Z_{\Psi} \Psi$, in the standard scheme.

Just as discussed in section 4.1, the schemes are related by field redefinitions and hence must be equivalent. We can then relate the renormalized quantities like the bare ones, but with a "renormalized" rotation matrix $O_{ij}(\mu)$,

$$\delta_{ij}m_i^2 = O_{ik}^T m_{kl}^2 O_{lj},$$

$$Y_i = y_a O_{ai},$$

$$\Lambda_{ijkl} = \lambda_{abcd} O_{ai} O_{bj} O_{ck} O_{dl}.$$
(51)

The rotation matrix O obeys a similar non-trivial μ -dependence as the transformation in section 4.1. Using eq. (51) to get from the RGEs in the standard scheme in eq. (41) to the RGEs in the minimal scheme in eq. (26) leads to the relation

$$(O^T \mathcal{D} O)_{ij} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } i = j, \\ 2C_{ji} + 2Y_i Y_j, & \text{for } i \neq j. \end{cases}$$
(52)

5 Conclusions

We have shown that even in the general case, having several scalar fields with the same quantum numbers, it is possible to choose a renormalization scheme such that there is no kinetic mixing of these fields. We have shown explicitly how this can be done at 1-loop order by defining three different schemes: the most general one allowing for all kinetic mixings; the minimal one where the only parameters and counterterms are the physically relevant ones; and the standard method where the fields and masses mix during renormalization which produces general counterterms. We showed that the three cases are related by scale dependent field redefinitions and also explicitly that the renormalization group equations are equivalent.

While the general scheme exhibits kinetic mixing terms in the Lagrangian, these are not present in the other two schemes. The equivalent effect is instead encoded in other ways. In the minimal scheme the effect enters in the off-diagonal C_{ij} terms that depend on the scalar masses. In the standard scheme the fields mix under renormalization; which gives rise to non-diagonal anomalous dimensions. Also the masses mix under renormalization and diagonalizing the mass-matrix after the RG evolution, to get the masses of the physical fields, redefines the fields in a way corresponding to the off-diagonal C_{ij} terms in the minimal scheme.

Another effect from the mixing of the fields under RG evolution in the standard scheme is that the basis changes during RG running. This is, for example, important for the case of 2HDMs with a broken \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. To circumvent this, one either has to keep track of how the basis changes by also taking into account the anomalous dimensions of the fields and the evolution of the mass terms or alternatively only use basis-invariant quantities.

Acknowledgements

This work is supported in part by the Swedish Research Council grants contract numbers 2015-04089 and 2016-05996 and by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No 668679).

References

- ATLAS Collaboration, G. Aad et al., Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B716 (2012) 1–29, [arXiv:1207.7214].
- [2] CMS Collaboration, S. Chatrchyan et al., Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B716 (2012) 30-61, [arXiv:1207.7235].
- [3] ATLAS, CMS Collaboration, G. Aad et al., Measurements of the Higgs boson production and decay rates and constraints on its couplings from a combined ATLAS and CMS analysis of the LHC pp collision data at $\sqrt{s} = 7$ and 8 TeV, JHEP 08 (2016) 045, [arXiv:1606.02266].
- [4] T. D. Lee, A Theory of Spontaneous T Violation, Phys. Rev. D8 (1973) 1226–1239.
 [,516(1973)].
- [5] L. J. Hall, V. A. Kostelecky, and S. Raby, New Flavor Violations in Supergravity Models, Nucl. Phys. B267 (1986) 415–432.
- [6] S. Weinberg, *The Quantum theory of fields. Vol. 1: Foundations.* Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [7] I. F. Ginzburg and M. Krawczyk, Symmetries of two Higgs doublet model and CP violation, Phys. Rev. D72 (2005) 115013, [hep-ph/0408011].

- [8] I. F. Ginzburg, Necessity of mixed kinetic term in the description of general system with identical scalar fields, Phys. Lett. B682 (2009) 61–66, [arXiv:0810.1546].
- [9] A. Denner, S. Dittmaier, and J.-N. Lang, *Renormalization of mixing angles*, arXiv:1808.03466.
- [10] A. V. Manohar, Introduction to Effective Field Theories, in Les Houches summer school: EFT in Particle Physics and Cosmology Les Houches, Chamonix Valley, France, July 3-28, 2017, 2018. arXiv:1804.05863.
- [11] H. Lehmann, K. Symanzik, and W. Zimmermann, Zur Formulierung quantisierter Feldtheorien, Nuovo Cimento Serie 1 (Jan., 1955) 205–225.
- G. Amoros, J. Bijnens, and P. Talavera, QCD isospin breaking in meson masses, decay constants and quark mass ratios, Nucl. Phys. B602 (2001) 87–108, [hep-ph/0101127].
- [13] J. Oredsson and J. Rathsman, Z_2 breaking effects in 2-loop RG evolution of 2HDM, arXiv:1810.02588.
- M. E. Machacek and M. T. Vaughn, Two Loop Renormalization Group Equations in a General Quantum Field Theory. 1. Wave Function Renormalization, Nucl. Phys. B222 (1983) 83–103.
- [15] M. E. Machacek and M. T. Vaughn, Two Loop Renormalization Group Equations in a General Quantum Field Theory. 2. Yukawa Couplings, Nucl. Phys. B236 (1984) 221–232.
- [16] M. E. Machacek and M. T. Vaughn, Two Loop Renormalization Group Equations in a General Quantum Field Theory. 3. Scalar Quartic Couplings, Nucl. Phys. B249 (1985) 70–92.
- [17] M.-x. Luo, H.-w. Wang, and Y. Xiao, Two loop renormalization group equations in general gauge field theories, Phys. Rev. D67 (2003) 065019, [hep-ph/0211440].
- [18] A. V. Bednyakov, On Three-loop RGE for the Higgs Sector of 2HDM, arXiv:1809.04527.
- [19] I. Schienbein, F. Staub, T. Steudtner, and K. Svirina, Revisiting RGEs for general gauge theories, arXiv:1809.06797.